I. INTRODUCTION

This lawsuit arises out of an incident where S. F., a

toddler, received second and third - degree burns after coming

into contact with a steam radiator located in an apartment

owned and operated by the defendants. At the time she was

severally burned, S. F. was 13 months old ( DOB: 3/ 23/ 08). 

She resided in the apartment with her parents, Joleen and

Renato Figuracion, and her 21/4.- year -old brother C. F. ( DOB: 

8/ 14/ 06). The details as to how S. F. was burned will be

discussed below in detail. At the outset, it is noted that these

injuries occurred after S. F.' s parents made reasonable efforts

to ameliorate the inherent hazard created by the presence of

steam radiators in the apartment unit where two toddlers

resided. 

It was undisputed below that several months prior to

this injury - producing event, ( May /June of 2008), the parents

had made specific inquiry of defendant management

personnel, as to whether or not they could place a cover over

the radiator, in order to ensure child safety. Specifically while

the parents were engaging in a " walk- through" of the

apartment unit, prior to entering into a one -year lease, Renato

Figuracion asked whether or not he could build a cover to

place over the radiator in order to protect his children. At that
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time, Defendant management personnel misrepresented to the

plaintiffs parents that a radiator cover would violate " code" 

and that the radiator's never got hot enough to cause any kind

of burn. Such information proved to be patently false. 

Nevertheless, given such limitations on their ability to

act, the parents made reasonable efforts to try to " make safe" 

the radiator by stacking boxes around it, thus creating a barrier

preventing the children from having access. Unfortunately, 

such remedial efforts proved to be fruitless and S. F. received

severe second and third - degree burns to her abdomen and

other parts of her body from a radiator, which according to

defendant management personnel at the time of the walk - 

through, never could get hot enough to create to cause any

significant injury. 

As explored below, Washington' s law, under a wide

variety of theories, ( both common law and statutory) obligates

landlords to provide a residence to its tenant that is safe. 

Contrary to the landlord' s position below, simply because this

case involves a steam radiator does not change such

obligations. 

As will be explored below, plaintiffs' position is

similar to that articulated in a dissent authored by Judge Saxe

in the case of Rivera v. Nelson Really, LLC, 799 A.D. 3d 316, 
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799 N. Y.S. 2d 198 ( N.Y. App. 2005) affirmed, 7 N.Y.3d 706, 

858 N.E. 2d 1127, 825 N.Y.S., 2d 422 ( 2006), which

observed: 

The lack of a specific statutory duty to furnish radiator
covers does not absolve defendants of all responsibility. 
First ofall, while violation ofa specific statute establishes
negligence, and a violation of regulation may be

considered as evidence of negligence, the lack of an
applicable statute does not preclude the existence of
negligence founded upon a property owner' s common -law
duties ... to maintain premises in a reasonable safe

condition. That a radiator was functioning as intended
does not alone establish that it was safe. The question of
what was reasonably safe must depend upon the particular
circumstances and presents an issue for resolution an

issue for resolution by ajury. Where defendants knew that

children live in the apartment, and that the hot, uncovered

radiator presented a hazard to them, the question of
whether the apartment was leased in a reasonable and

safe condition should not be determined as a matter of
law. The existence ofa case dating from 1945 absolving a
landlordfrom any liability where a child was burned by a
hot radiator is not dispositive. Not only was there no
discussion in that brief memorandum opinion of a

landlord's obligation to maintain premises in a reasonably
safe condition, but there was certainly no discussion of a
claim that maintaining the premises in a reasonably safe
condition entailed providing a radiator cover. Indeed, 

radiator covers may not have been readily available when
Bernstrof was being litigated. If they were not, the

plaintiff in that case would have been unable to assert, as
plaintiff asserts here, that the dangers presented to

children by exposing bare radiators could easily be
rendered safe by the landlord. Accordingly, the holding in
Bernstroff should not have been relied upon to preclude
plaintiffs. ( Citations omitted). 

As explored below, both under common law and

statutory duties, the defendant landlord in this case had an

obligation to provide a safe premise for this family to reside in. 
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It should have been left to the jury to make a determination as

to whether or not it complied with such obligations. 

Even more puzzling under the facts of this case is the

Trial Court's denial of the parents' Motion for Summary

Judgment on their entitlement for parental immunity. The

Trial Court should not have viewed this as even being a close

question. There was simply no evidence presented before the

Trial Court which in any way suggested the plaintiff parents, in

any way, engaged in " wanton and /or willful misconduct" 

justifying a denial of parental immunity under Washington

law. There is no " cause of action" for " negligent parental

supervision ". Further, even if there were such a claim, the

evidence presented below was insufficient even to raise a

colorable issue as to whether or not the parents' actions in this

case were negligent, let alone a question of fact as to whether

their actions rose to the level of wanton and /or willful

misconduct. 

Should the Court be inclined to reverse the Trial

Court' s determination that the defendants' breached no duty

and /or caused no harm, the Court also should review and

dispose of the Trial Court's rather incomprehensible denial of

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment regarding parental

immunity. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Trial Court erred by granting defendants' 

Motion for Summary Judgment when there are issues of fact

as to whether or not the defendant landlord breached one or

more statutory and /or common -law duties to provide its

tenants, including S. F., a safe place to live. 

2. The Trial Court erred in failing to recognize

that there was at least a genuine issue of material fact as to

whether or not the defendant landlord breached the common

law implied warranty of habitability, which requires that a

landlord provides to a tenant premises which do not contain

actual or potential safety hazards," to the occupants. 

3. The Trial Court erred by failing to recognize

that there was at least a question of fact as to whether or not

the defendant landlord violated its common -law duties to its' 

invitees by renting to the plaintiffs an apartment which

contained a dangerous steam radiator, where it knew or should

have known, that despite its dangerousness, the tenants would

necessarily have to encounter such dangers by residing in the

apartment. 

4. The Trial Court erred in failing to find that there

were at least questions of fact as to whether or not the landlord
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in this case violated its duties under RCW 59. 18. 060( 1), ( 2), 

3), and ( 8). 

5. The Trial Court erred in failing to find that the

landlord could be subject to under the terms of Restatement

2 "
d) 

of Property § 17. 3 and § 17. 4 for injuries suffered from a

steam radiator within leased premises, when the landlord

retained control over such " common facility ", despite the fact

it was within the four corners of the leasehold. 

6. The Trial Court erred in failing to find that the

defendants can be subject to liability under the Restatement

2 "
d) 

of Property § 17. 6 because it failed to repair the

condition, or ameliorate it, ( the dangerousness of the steam

radiator), in order to comply with the implied warranty of

habitability and in order to conform with a number of

administrative duties imposed under the terms of the Tacoma

Municipal Code. 

7. The Trial Court erred to the extent that it may

have rested its decision on the actions of the plaintiffs parents, 

as being the superseding intervening cause of S. F' s injuries, 

despite the presence of the landlord' s breach of various

common law and /or statutory duties. 

8. The Trial Court erred in failing to find as a

matter of law that the plaintiff' s parents were entitled to
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parental immunity" for any injuries or damages suffered to

S. F., given the absence of any conduct on their part which

would fall within any of the exceptions of the parental

immunity doctrine, including the existence of " wanton and

willful misconduct ". 

9. The Trial Court erred in failing to grant summary

judgment on the plaintiffs parents' claim for parental

immunity and in failing to rule as a matter of law that the

parents breached no actionable duty which could result in an

allocation of fault to them under the terms of RCW 4. 22 et. 

seq. 

III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS

OF ERROR

1. Did the Trial Court err in granting summary

judgment on plaintiffs' claims when there was a minimum

question of fact, as to whether or not the landlord breach of

statutory and common -law duties was a proximate cause of

the injury and /or damages suffered by the plaintiffs? 

2. Did the Trial Court err as a matter of law in

failing to grant Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment on

the issue of parental immunity when the evidence presented

below did not raise material questions of facts as to whether or

not any of the exceptions to the parental immunity doctrine

applied or even a colorable question as to whether the
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plaintiff' s parents engaged in " wanton and /or willful

conduct "? 

3. Did the Trial Court err by failing to grant

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment on parental

immunity and by failing to determine, as a matter of law, the

parents did not breach actionable duty for which fault can be

allocated under the terms of RCW 4. 22. 070? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

In late May, early June 2008, Plaintiffs, Joleen and

Renato Figuracion, entered into a rental agreement ( one- year

lease) to rent Unit 212 at the Rembrandt Apartments located

at 219 St. Helens Avenue, Tacoma, Washington 98402. At

the time the Plaintiffs entered into the rental agreement, it was

understood that Joleen and Renato' s two minor children " S. F." 

female, DOB: 3/ 23/ 08) and C. F., ( male, DOB: 8/ 14/ 06) 

would be residing within the home.' ( CP 52). 

Unit 12 is on the ground /basement level of the

Rembrandt Apartments. It is a corner apartment and as you

enter the apartment, directly in front of you is the restroom. 

Prior to moving to the Rembrandt, the Plaintiffs were living in a hotel
that was also owned and operated by the Neiders Company. ( CP 77, 100, 

115). The hotel had a program in which its tenants, who either had credit

issues or prior evictions, could qualify for an apartment at Rembrandt by
paying an additional fee on top of rent for the hotel room in order to
qualify. Plaintiff paid the extra money and " qualified" for an apartment. 
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To the left is a living room area and to the right is a kitchen

area which had a bedroom situated behind it. ( CP 73). It is

undisputed that from the bathroom area, even with the door

open, one would not be able to see into either the living room

or the kitchen area, and all you would be able to see with the

door fully open is the front door and a small hallway. The

Rembrandt Apartments have a centralized steam- boiler

heating system which has steam radiators in the individual

apartments. ( CP 71, 72, 74, 202) ( Appendix " 1"). Within the

living room area of Unit 12 there is a three - tiered steam

radiator which is angled away from the wall in such a manner

as to provide a triangular- shaped space between the radiator

and the wall. ( Id.) 

At the time of Joleen and Renato' s initial walk - through

with Rembrandt personnel, Renato asked whether or not he

could put covers over the radiators out of a concern for the

children getting behind them and could get burned. ( CP 82). 

At that time the plaintiff parents were informed that the

radiators never got that hot and that it would be " against code" 

to put covers upon them. ( CP 82; CP 821). Renato, a carpenter, 

offered to build wooden covers for the radiators that would

enclose the entire radiator. ( CP 82). Previously the Figuracions

had lived in an apartment that had covers over such radiators
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which had been made out of wood. ( Id). Wooden radiator

covers are not unusual and are readily available for retail

purchase. ( CP 405). The Plaintiffs were told that they could not

construct such covers. ( Id). The Plaintiff parents attempted to

stack boxes around the radiator to prevent the children from

having access. 2 ( CP 82 -83). 

Unfortunately, on April 27, 2009 at or around 11: 00

a.m., minor, S. F. was severely burned, by the radiator located

in the front room of Unit No. 12 in the Rembrandt

Apartments. 

CP 126 -131). 

2

Additionally, Plaintiffs prior to S. F.' s injury, had also lodged oral complaints
regarding the unpredictability of when the heat would be on or off and the loud
noises that the radiator system would make. Additionally, Plaintiffs orally
complained about how the knob to the radiator was stuck and the knob was

difficult to turn. ( CP 83) ( CP 822). The knob ( valve) is not a true temperature

control, but more akin to an off or on switch. ( CP 404). 
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1• 

As Joleen Figuracion explained in her deposition, 

immediately prior to the event she went to the restroom. As

she was using the restroom, the children were in the front

room watching Sesame Street or some other programming on

PBS. ( CP 79). While Joleen was in the restroom ( for

approximately five minutes), she began to hear her daughter

scream. ( Id). Her initial assumption was that the two toddlers

were roughhousing and she yelled out for her young son to

knock it off'. For a moment the screaming stopped, but once

again S. F. began to scream. ( CP 79). As a result, Joleen

jumped off the commode and ran out of the bathroom and

found S. F. behind the radiator. C. F. was also behind the

radiator. Joleen initially thought that S. F. was scared because

she could not extricate herself from behind the radiator, ( her

exit was blocked by C. F.) ( Id). However, as she picked her

up, Joleen felt something hanging on her hand ( which turned

out to be a substantial amount of S. F.' s bodily skin from her

stomach). ( Id). Neither S. F. and C. F. were in direct contact

with the boxes, and based on her on- the -scene observations, 

Joleen Figuracion has concluded that S. F. was pressed into

the radiator by C. F. because both were occupying the small

space behind the radiator. C. F. was uninjured. ( CP 398). 



Joleen immediately stripped off S. F.' s clothing, brought

her into the bathroom, and put her in cold water and

immediately called 911. ( CP 79). EMTs arrived and S. F. 

was immediately transported to Mary Bridge Children' s

Hospital where she was treated for severe second and third - 

degree burns.
3 (

CP 411 -412). 

As a by- product of contact with the steam radiator

located in the front room of Unit 12 of the Rembrandt

Apartments S. F. suffered: 

Primarily second degree burns with some deeper areas offull
thickness third - degree burns about the belly button, lower

abdomen, and right flank. There is a small area deep second - 
degree burn in the mid thoracic region of the back which is
manifest primarily a slight hyper pigmentation. 

CP 412). 

No doubt because of the significant nature of S. F.' s

injuries, CPS conducted an investigation including visiting the

Rembrandt Apartments to verify the parents' explanation of the

event and to determine what happened. ( CP 142 -156). 

While at the apartment complex the social worker

made contact with the Defendant manager who was asked

whether or not covers could be placed over the steam radiators

to ensure child safety. Ultimately no actions were taken by the

s It is somewhat unknown as to how S. F. was able to find her way behind the
radiator given the fact that the parents had tried to prevent access to the rear of

the radiator by stacking boxes in and around the area. It is most likely that since
C. F. was behind the radiator with S. F. wedged into the radiator by C. F. who
would have been behind her and nearest the " exit ". ( CP 397 -398). 
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Rembrandt Apartments and its attitude was that if radiator

covers ( or something else) were put around the heaters in Unit

12, then the owner would be obligated to do so for all of the

residents. ( CP 153 - 154). Ultimately, the Figuracions turned

off the steam. heaters, and until they moved out ( upon

expiration of their lease), used space heaters in lieu of the cast

iron radiators over which they had very little ability to

regulate. 

It was undisputed that the heating system within the

Rembrandt apartment was a centralized boiler system with

individual radiators in each room. The landlord at all times

retained control as to whether or not the heat system was

turned on or off. ( CP 822). The individual radiators had

control valves which allowed them to turn the radiator on and

off, but did not permit the individual tenant to regulate the

amount of heat coming to their apartment. The control valve

on the radiator at issue in this case within the Figuracion' s

apartment, was painted into a fixed open position. (CP 404). 

During the course of proceedings, even the defendants

own expert conceded that steam radiators like those present in

Unit 12 at the Rembrandt Apartments can be hazardous to

health and safety of the apartment' s occupants. Within a

report dated October 8, 2013, defendants own expert a

14



Mr. Chamberlain provided " anyone familiar with low pressure

steam boiler and the application of steam radiators, ( such as

installed at the Rembrandt Apartments), notes a radiator

service to be extremely hot to the touch ..." ( CP 202). 

Therefore it is my opinion this ASTM standard is not relevant

to the complaint other than to confirm human body burns will

occur when in contact with any low pressure steam radiator

CP 202 -03). " What happened to this child was

unfortunate but the application, performance and use of cast - 

iron steam radiators was appropriate for the building at the

time of its construction. It is my opinion that occupants must

use extreme caution when operating a steam radiator space

heating system to avoid potential burn situations ... ". ( CP

203). 

Additional information was submitted to the Trial

Court, including studies from authoritative sources such as the

CDC verifying that steam radiators are inherently hazardous

and in particular are burn hazards to children, elderly, and

those who suffer from epilepsy. ( CP 444 -446). As suggested

by a CDC study dated September 27, 1996, such burn injuries

are most often suffered by children within low - income

housing: 

Unprotected radiators and their pipes were directly
related to injury risk for the children in this report. 
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Building Codes in Chicago require radiators be covered
in public places ( e. g., churches, daycare facilities and

schools) but not in private or public housing. Steam

radiator systems are found primarily in older buildings. 
The buildings served by steam radiators in the housing
projects in this report were constructed during the late
1950s and the buildings served by hot water radiators
were built during the 1960s. Temperature is a critical

factor in thermal injury. Contact temperature in the

range ofsteam radiators can cause an instantaneous full
thickness burn of adult human skin. Children' s skin is

probably more susceptible than that of adults to thermal

injury. In comparison, hot water radiators operate at a

lower temperature than steam radiators and present a

lower risk of thermal injury. Risk for burn from home

radiators can be reduced by keeping the unit covered and
the pipes insulated. 

CP 445). 

Other studies were provided to the Trial Court

through plaintiffs' expert. ( CP 448, 451) ( Appendix

2 "). In each of these studies, it was recommended that

in order to ameliorate the potential harm that can be

caused by steam radiators to the young, elderly, or

infirmed ( and individuals with epilepsy), that covers

and /or shelving be used to surround the steam radiator

in order to lessen the opportunity for skin contact: 

Prevention of radiator contact burns. 

Ifpreventative measures are to be implemented they
need to be economical yet allow effective heat

emission to occur. The method would incorporate: 

1. Moving children's beds awayfrom radiators. 

2. The use of shelving or protective grills

enclosing the radiator. 
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3. Encasing exposed pipes by pipework ( emphasis
original). 

As such, it is respectfully suggested that it is an

established fact that steam radiators, located within an

apartment, as Unit 12 at the Rembrandt Apartments, are a

well- recognized burn hazard and unless remedial efforts are

taken, are inherently unsafe. 

B. Procedural History

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