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

dangerous condition" in need of "repair." Mr. Chamberlain testified that

the subject steam radiator has a manual control valve that allows the

occupant to turn the radiator on and off; plus it provides very limited

steam flow modulation for space temperature control. ( CP 325 at ¶ 4). 

Again, as stated above, Mr. Chamberlain confirmed that the subject steam

radiator was still code compliant. Mr. Chamberlain confirmed that not

only did the subject steam radiator comply with all applicable codes and

regulations when the Rembrandt Apartments were built, but they could

install the same radiator today and it would be compliant. ( CP 325 at rej

3. 5; 791 at ! j 9). Mr. Chamberlain further testifies that the valve which is

used to turn the radiator " on and off' is not " painted shut." as was

suggested by the Figuracions' expert. ( CP 794 at '¶ 16). 
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As established above, because the existence of the steam radiator

did not violate any " duties created by statute or administrative regulation," 

the Figuracions' claims are without merit. 

Washington cases analyzing whether the Restatement ( 2nd) of

Property § 17. 6 ( 1977) has been violated, all involve clear violations of

applicable building codes and/ or regulations. In Stalick, the plaintiff

brought suit against her landlord after she sustained injuries on stairs to

her apartment that were " decrepit, rotten, and inherently dangerous." 

Stalick, 106 Wn. App. at 814. As the court noted in Stalick, " the

uncontroverted facts show that the steps failed to comply with the UBC

Uniform Building Code]). Id. at 818. 

In Martini v. Post, 178 Wn. App. 153, 313 P. 3d 473 ( 2013), a

tenant' s husband brought an action against landlord for negligence. The

home that the tenants were renting had a second story window that could

not be opened, which tenants requested to be fixed by the landlord, a

request that went unanswered. Id. at 157. During a house fire, the tenant

was trapped in the bedroom with the inoperable window, and it was

claimed that the tenant' s inability to open the window contributed to her

death, for which the land lord was liable. Id. at 157 -158. However, the

inoperable window was in clear violation of Tacoma Municipal Code § 

2. 01. 070, which provides in relevant part, that windows and glazing shall
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be in good condition, and that operable windows shall be able to operate in

the manner in which they were designed. Id. at 171 ( citing Tacoma

Municipal Code § 2. 01. 070). The key distinction between Martini and the

facts here is that the window in Martini was defective, i. e., inoperable. 

The radiator at issue here was not defective or inoperable. 

In the present matter; the Figuracions have not established a single

code violation. This failure is dispositive to the Figuracions' claims based

on the RLTA, the implied warranty of habitability, as well as under the

Restatement ( 2nd) of Property § 17. 6 ( 1977). While it is unclear how this

Court' s adoption of the Restatement ( 2nd) of Property § 17. 6 ( 1977) 

modifies or changes tenant' s ability to seek personal injury damages under

the implied warranty of habitability. the Restatement ( as interpreted by the

cases above), certainly does not expand the scope of a landlord' s liability. 

To the contrary; the express language of the Restatement ( 2nd) of Property

17. 6 ( 1977) states that in order to establish a violation of this

restatement; the dangerous condition must violate either: an implied

warranty of habitability, or a duty created by statute or administrative

regulation. Accordingly, if a tenant cannot establish a violation of the

implied warranty or the violation of a code or regulation, that tenant

cannot establish liability under her the Restatement ( 2nd) of Property § 
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17. 6 ( 1977). Therefore, the trial court properly dismissed the Figuracions' 

claim based on her the Restatement (2nd) of Property § 17. 6 ( 1977). 

F. Other jurisdictions analyzing the same issue have
never found a landlord liable merely because a
steam radiator in a private residential dwelling is

uncovered

As stated above, there is no evidence that the steam radiator in

question has breached any applicable statute, code or regulation. The basis of

Figuracions' claim is the existence of the steam radiator itself. However, as

found in numerous jurisdictions, the mere presence of a steam radiator is not a

basis for liability. While reviewing the case law regarding radiators in

Washington as well as other jurisdictions, Rembrandt has not found a single

case where a landlord has been found liable for a non - defective uncovered

radiator. Simply stated. steam radiators are a common utility and are not a

dangerous condition. Dargie v. East End Bolders Club, 346 III.App. 480, 105

N.E. 2d 537 ( 1952) ( CP 368). Case law involving steam radiators have

repeatedly found that the steam radiators are common fixtures and the simple

fact that they will get hot in order to perform their function does not make

them unsafe. 

The steam radiator has so long been a common fixture in our
society that every adult person is chargeable with knowledge
that it must be hot in order to serve its purpose and is to that

extent ' dangerous'. Whatever risk is attendant upon keeping a
radiator hot is not an ' unreasonable risk' but is a necessary
concomitant to the heating function which it serves and is
justified by its utility
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Della Porta v. Roma, 370 Pa. 593; 88 A.2d 911 ( 1952) ( CP 375); see also

Hubbard v. Chicago Housing Authority, 138 I11. App.3d 1013, 93 III.Dec. 576

1985) ( CP 381). ( regarding an ordinance to provide " safe heating" the court

held " Rio interpret the ordinance to find a violation, as the Figuracions

suggest, would prevent the use of any heating unit which would be capable of

causing burns through prolonged contact. Such a construction of this

ordinance would impose too heavy a burden on the defendant here, as well as

on all landlords. "); see also Loving v. Chicago Housing Authority, 203

11I. App.3d 205, 148 111. Dec. 532 ( 1990) ( CP 386) (` liability based on

negligence did not exist for the failure to cover a steam radiator which was

being used for its intended purpose and which was not defective. "); Utkan v. 

Szuwala, 60 A.D.3d 755, 875 N.Y.S. 2d 510 ( 2009)( 1andlord has no duty

arising under common law, statute, regulation, or terms of the lease to protect

tenant' s children from uncovered radiators in the apartment) ( CP 390). 

In addition, case law regarding a landlord' s liability to children in an

apartment with respect to steam radiators has similarly found no liability on

the part of the landlord. In Rivera v. Nelson Realty, LLC, 7 N.Y.3d 530, 825

N.Y.S. 2d 422 ( 2006) ( CP 393) the plaintiff claimed an uncovered radiator in

good working order, though not a hazard in a home occupied only by adults, is

dangerous to children. The court ruled that no duty to remedy this alleged

hazard is imposed by the NY landlord tenant act or arises under common law

by virtue of the lease. Accordingly, any duty to protect children from

uncovered radiators remains that of the tenant, unless some other statute or

regulation imposes it on the landlord. 
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Therefore, pursuant to the forgoing, there is simply no legal basis for

the Figuracions' claim that a common, non - defective, steam radiator created

an unreasonably dangerous condition on the property. The lack of evidence of

code violations with respect to the radiator, and the fact that a steam radiator

on its own is not a dangerous condition, forms a bar to all of the Figuracions' 

claims against Rembrandt as discussed in further detail below. 

III. THE ACTS OF THE PARENTS AND /OR THE

FIGURACIONS CHILDREN, IRRESPECTIVE OF THE

CHILDRENS' NEGLIGENCE, CONSTITUTES

INTERVENING SUPERSEDING CAUSES

Notwithstanding the arguments above, the steam radiator itself is

not the proximate cause of S. F.' s injuries. Rather, the Figuracions

parents' actions of placing boxes around the radiator created a trap, which

was the ultimate cause of S. F.' s injuries as she was unable to get away

once she entered the enclosed space containing the radiator. 10 Joleen and

Renato Figuracion' s actions created a superseding cause, thereby breaking

any chain of causation that could be traceable to Rembrandt. 

Whether an act may be considered a superseding cause sufficient to

relieve a defendant of liability depends on whether the intervening act can

reasonably be foreseen by the defendant; only intervening acts which are not

reasonably foreseeable are deemed superseding causes. Anderson v. Dreis & 

1° Similarly, C. F. preventing S. F. from being able to exit from behind the radiator would
also serve as an intervening. superseding cause, irrespective of any negligence on the part
of S. F. 
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Krump Mfg. Corp., 48 Wn. App. 432, 442, 739 P.2d 1177, review denied, 109

Wash.2d 1006 ( 1987). 

Here, it is not reasonably foreseeable that the parent would create a

trap for their children behind a radiator, nor is it foreseeable that an older

sibling would prevent their younger sibling from being able to exit from

behind a radiator. It is also not reasonably foreseeable, or expected, that a

mother would wait for 2 minutes before checking in on their screaming baby. 

As Rembrandt' s expert, Dr. Haeck, testified in his declaration, any child

coming in contact with a hot surface will pull away immediately. ( CP 340- 41

at 3). Due to the boxes surrounding the radiator, S. F. became trapped and

was unable to escape from behind the radiator. Accordingly, it is the boxes

around the radiator and/ or C.F. that prohibited S. F.' s escape, resulting in her

burns. 

The Figuracions allege that the fact that the apartment was

occupied by two toddlers is sufficient to establish that the alleged injury

suffered by S. F. was foreseeable, and therefore cannot be an intervening or

superseding cause. This is incorrect and is not supported under

Washington case law. 

Washington' s Supreme Court squarely addressed the issue of

foreseeability in the same context that the Figuracions have argued it. In

Cook v. Seidenverg, 36 Wn.2d 256, 217 P. 2d 799 ( 1950), a tenant' s child
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suffered severe burns from an electric space heater that her mother was

using due to their landlord not providing sufficient heat, and the tenants

subsequently brought suit against the landlord. The court stated that when

the landlord failed to provide sufficient heat, it was foreseeable that the

tenant would utilize a portable electric heater. However, while the act of

using an electric heater may well be regarded as part of a natural and

continuous sequence resulting from the failure to provide heat, the court

ruled there must have been some additional and further act or force in

operation which lead to the child' s injuries. In Cook the court was unclear

on the precise nature of the accident, but the court did know that that it

must have been due the following: 

1. Negligence of the mother in placing the heater in a position

of danger; 

2. The mother knowingly using a defective heater; 

3. The mother failing to supervise the child' s use of the

heater; 

4. The act of the child, independent of any negligence, in

coming to close in proximity of the heater; 

5. Or a latent defect in the heater which caused the child' s

cloths to ignite; 

6. Or some other intervening circumstance like nature. 

Cook, 36 Wn. 2d at 264. The Washington Supreme Court in Cook held

that " any of these circumstances must, under the fact of this case, be
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held to constitute a supervening cause of harm within the meaning of

that term." Id. (emphasis added). 

Important here is that in Cook the landlord was aware of the

presence of children in the apartment and that the tenant was utilizing the

electric heater. Despite that knowledge, the act of the child coming too

close to the heater, or the mother failing to supervise her child, among

other things, constituted a superseding and intervening cause, thereby

breaking the chain of causation. 

While the Figuracions have alleged that the mere fact that the

Figuracions were living in a home with toddlers is sufficient to show that

the alleged harm was reasonably foreseeable as parents cannot visually

supervise their children all day. as evidenced by the decision in Cook. 

failure to supervise is precisely an act which constitutes a supervening

cause of harm, irrespective of whether the lack of supervision is labeled as

negligent." Moreover, while it appears that Joleen Figuracion has

changed her story with respect to how the incident occurred, the statement

that the act of C.F. pressing S. F. against the heater for a sufficient time to

cause her burns is also a supervening cause as contemplated under Cook. 

In addition_ as evident by the Supreme Court' s holding in Cook. 

whether an action is a superseding or intervening cause operates

independently of parental immunity or the age of the acting party. 

Accordingly. it is clear that in either case, whether it is stacked boxes; a

failure to supervise by Joleen Figuracion, or the actions of C.F. or S. F., 

there are several facts which create superseding or intervening causes in
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this matter. Therefore, the trial court' s denial of the Figuracions' Motion

for Partial Summary Judgment regarding parental immunity should be

affirmed. 

IV. IF THIS CASE PROCEEDED TO TRIAL, THE JURY

SHOULD HAVE BEEN INSTRUCTED TO ALLOCATE

FAULT TO ALL ENTITIES, EVEN IMMUNE

ENTITIES, CONSISTENT WITH RCW. 4.22.070( 1) 

Regardless of the parental immunity doctrine, RCW 4. 22. 070

requires allocation of fault. As stated in Tegman v. Medical

Investigations, Inc. 150 Wn.2d. 102, 75 P. 3d 497 ( 2003), RCW 4. 22.070

was the " centerpiece" of the tort reform act of 1986, and courts have

consistently held that several, or proportionate liability is now the general

rule. In Anderson v. City ofSeattle, 123 Wn.2d 847, 873 P. 2d 489 ( 1994), 

the court ruled that despite immunity by one party who was released from

the claim, ( i. e. a party whom no judgment could ever be entered against at

trial) the remaining defendant is only responsible for its proportionate

share of fault. 

Similarly, in Romero v. West Valley School Dist. 123 Wn.App. 

385, 98 P. 3d 96 ( 2004) ( overruled on other grounds Barton v. State, Dept. 

of Transp., 178 Wn.2d 193, 398 P. 3d 587 ( 2013)), the court has previously

allowed the jury to allocate fault to the parents for their negligence under

RCW 4. 22. 070. Romero is the only case that discusses both RC \V

4.22. 020 and RCW 4.22.070 and the allocation of negligent parents under

RC\ V 4. 22. 070. 
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In addition, as noted in Price v. Kitsap Transit, 125 Wn.2d 456, 

886 P. 2d 556 ( 1994), despite rejecting apportion of fault to the minor

child, the Washington Supreme Court allowed the apportionment of fault

to the father of the minor child. As noted by Justice Durham in her

concurrence, "[ u] nder the tort reform act, the trial court must hold [ the

defendant] liable according to the degree of its fault, no more, no less." 

Accordingly, even if we are to assume arguendo that Joleen and

Renato are immune under the parental immunity doctrine; this immunity

does not relate to the allocation of fault under RCW 4. 22. 070. As

discussed in the case law cited above, the parental immunity doctrine does

not impact the allocation of fault under RCW 4. 22. 070. This is in line

with the purpose of the tort reform act, RCW 4.22. 070, where a party is

only liable for the degree of its fault. Even if Joleen and Renato are

immune, they still are allocated fault. Significantly. RCW 4. 22. 070( 1) 

explicitly states that; " entities whose fault shall be determined include [...] 

entities immune from liability to the claimant." Irrespective of immunity. 

Rembrandt does not assume any of Joleen and Renato' s liability. As

discussed further below, Joleen and Renato did owe a duty, and that duty

was breached. 

Further. the contract entered into between the Figuracions and

Rembrandt expressly requires the determination of the Figuracions' 

negligence with respect to this claim for damages. The contract entered

into between the Figuracions and Rembrandt provided, in pertinent part, 

the following: " Resident agrees to accept the premises in its present condition
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and to save and hold Owners harmless from any claims or any damages

arising out of or resulting from owner' s or residents' negligence or for any

defects in the premises now or hereafter occurring." ( CP 263). Under the

present circumstances, this provision simply requires an allocation of fault to

the Figuracions parents for their negligence. The Figuracions have previously

submitted that this contract provision violates RCW 59. 18. 230( 2)( d). ( CP

494). Quite clearly, however, RCW 59. 18. 230(2)( d) relates only to a landlord

limiting his liability through contracting with a tenant in which a landlord' s

duties under RCW 59. 18 et esq. are waived. This provision has no bearing on

a tenant saving and holding harmless a landlord to do claims that arise out of

the tenant' s negligence. 

Lastly. t he Figuracions have confused the import of parental

immunity. Parental immunity applies to claims brought against parents for

damages, perhaps through a claim of contribution, which is not presently at

issue. Parental immunity does not operate to bar the application of

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